



의학박사 학위논문

## 알레르기성 기도 염증에서 대식세포 유래 progranulin 의 역할

Macrophage-derived progranulin produced in the early sensitization period plays an important role in the development of allergen induced T<sub>H</sub>2 dominant airway inflammation

울산대학교대학원

### 의 학 과

## 박 소 영

## 알레르기성 기도 염증에서 대식세포 유래 progranulin 의 역할

## 지도교수 조유숙

## 이 논문을 의학박사 학위 논문으로 제출함

## 2018년 2월

울산대학교대학원

### 의 학 과

## 박 소 영

## 2018년 2월

## 울산대학교대학원

심사위원	김태범 (인)
심사위원	조유숙 (인)
심사위원	권혁수 (인)
심사위원	김상훈 (인)
심사위원	송우정 (인)

## 박소영의 의학박사학위 논문을 인준함

#### Abstract

Heterogeneity of asthma in its pathophysiology and clinical phenotypes has led to the development of new treatment strategies in which a biologic agent targets a key pathway of a certain inflammatory cascade. Progranulin, as a new biomarker in asthma was suggested based on a series of studies that demonstrated its anti-inflammatory role in animal models of acute lung injury and emphysema, also on a clinical study of asthma that showed its association with airway obstruction and blood neutrophilia. The specific function of progranulin and its mechanism of action in asthma is unknown, therefore, we aimed to investigate its immunologic role in asthma. To evaluate the effect of allergen exposure to progranulin in the airway, house dust mite (HDM) extract was administered intranasally in a mouse model and we found increased progranulin levels along with type 1 and 2 cytokines in bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) fluid. The source of progranulin was alveolar macrophages. The effect of macrophage-derived progranulin on airway was evaluated with intranasal treatment of recombinant progranulin in mice and the results showed increased alveolar macrophages, neutrophils and type 2 cytokines, and the cytokines were produced from natural killer T (NKT) cells and lung epithelial cells. In the model of macrophage-derived progranulin deficient mice, HDM exposure did not induce innate and adaptive immune responses, and these responses were restored by progranulin supplement in the sensitization period. Also, the deficiency in macrophage-derived progranulin resulted in markedly decreased inflammation in histologic analysis of lung tissue after HDM exposure. Thus, the presence of macrophage-derived

progranulin in the airway was shown to be important for the generation of T helper cell type 2

(T<sub>H</sub>2) immune response to HDM allergen exposure.

Keywords: progranulin, macrophage, asthma

### Table of contents

Abstract	i
Table of contents ·····	iii
Table of figures	vi

1. Introduction ······1
1.1 Asthma, a heterogeneous disease of the airway
1.2. Pathobiology of asthma
1.3. New biologic agents for asthma ······ 8
1.4. Progranulin ······9
1.4.1. The functions of progranulin
1.4.2. Association between progranulin and respiratory diseases, including asthma 11
1.5. Possible role of progranulin in allergic airway inflammation

2. Materials and methods ······13
2.1. Mice
2.2. Materials for stimulation of cell line or mice
2.3. Culture and stimulation of mouse alveolar macrophage, epithelial cell and NKT cell
2.4. Establishment of airway inflammation in animal model

2.5. Processing of BAL fluid, serum isolation and peritoneal fluid
2.6. Single cell isolation from lung tissues and regional lymph nodes17
2.7. Evaluation of immune responses of the single cells obtained from lungs and regional
lymph nodes ······18
2.8. Measurement of cytokines in BAL fluid/culture supernatant and immunoglobulin in serum
2.9. Evaluation of lung histology 19
2.10. Statistical analysis
3. Results 20
3.1. Airway inflammation and production of cytokines and progranulin was induced by HDM
allergen exposure ······20
3.2. Alveolar macrophage was the source of progranulin production at HDM allergen exposure
3.3. Intranasal treatment of recombinant progranulin increased airway inflammation 25
3.4. Progranulin induced production of type 2 cytokines from NKT and lung epithelial cells
3.5. Effect of macrophage-derived progranulin on the development of innate immune response
induced by HDM allergen stimulation
2.6 Effect of macrophage derived programulin on the development of adaptive immunity

induced by HDM allergen stimulation
3.7. Progranulin supplement in the sensitization period restored down-regulated Der p specific
airway inflammation in macrophage-derived progranulin deficient mice
3.8. Effect of the progranulin on the development of adaptive immune response in
conventional alum model
3.9. Effect of OVA/alum stimulation on the induction of progranulin in peritoneal cavity

4. Discussion ······62	2
5. Conclusion ······72	2
6. References ·······73	3
7. Korean abstract······86	5

### Table of figures

Figure 1. Pathobiology of asthma
Figure 2. Protocol for the establishment of airway inflammation in animal models 16
Figure 3. Airway inflammation was induced by intranasal administration of HDM allergen in
wild type mice 21
Figure 4. The production of progranulin in BAL fluid in HDM stimulated wild type mice was
induced earlier than other pro-inflammatory cytokines, including type 2 cytokines 22
Figure 5. Progranulin was mainly produced by alveolar macrophage after HDM allergen
exposure ·····24
Figure 6. Airway inflammation was induced after intranasal administration of recombinant
mouse progranulin ······ 26
Figure 7. Intranasal administration of recombinant mouse progranulin induced type 2
cytokines in wild type mice
Figure 8. Recombinant mouse progranulin administration did not induce the production of IL-
6 and IL-12 in BAL fluid of wild type mice
Figure 9. IL-4 and IL-13, were induced by stimulation of recombinant mouse progranulin in
NKT cell···································
Figure 10. IL-33 and TSLP were induced by stimulation of recombinant mouse progranulin in
epithelial cell ·································
Figure 11. Inflammatory cells in BAL fluid were decreased in macrophage-derived

Figure 12. Type 2 cytokine expression in BAL fluid was down-regulated in the macrophage-Figure 13. Macrophage-derived progranulin deficiency did not influence the levels of IL-6 and Figure 14. The expression of IL-4 and IL-13 were decreased in the lung tissue of macrophage-Figure 15. Inflammatory cell recruitment was decreased in macrophage-derived progranulin Figure 16. Tissue inflammation of the lung was down-regulated in macrophage-derived Figure 17. Type 2 cytokine levels were down-regulated in macrophage-derived progranulin Figure 18. The absence of macrophage-derived progranulin affects the production of IL-17 Figure 19. The absence of macrophage-derived progranulin affects the induction of serum Figure 20. Induction of T<sub>H</sub>2 cell development with HDM allergen challenge was down-Figure 21. Reduced airway inflammatory cell recruitment in macrophage-derived progranulin deficient mice was restored by replenishment of progranulin during sensitization period 48 Figure 22. Down-regulated Der p specific airway inflammation in macrophage-derived progranulin deficient mice was restored by replenishment of progranulin during sensitization Figure 23. Down-regulated expression of type 2 cytokines in macrophage-derived progranulin deficient mice was restored by replenishment of progranulin during sensitization period Figure 24. Progranulin replenishment in the sensitization period of Der p affects IL-17 and IP-Figure 25. Progranulin replenishment in the sensitization period of Der p affects the induction Figure 26. Recruitment of inflammatory cells was reduced in macrophage-driven progranulin Figure 27. Ova specific airway inflammation was down-regulated in macrophage-driven progranulin deficient mice 55 Figure 28. Type 2 cytokine levels were down-regulated in macrophage-driven progranulin Figure 29. The absence of macrophage-derived progranulin affects the production of IL-17 

Figure 30. The absence of macrophage-derived progranulin affects the induction of serum
immunoglobulin after OVA/alum stimulation
Figure 31. Induction of $T_H 2$ cell development with OVA/alum stimulation was down-regulated
in macrophage-driven progranulin deficient mice
Figure 32. Intraperitoneal injection of alum induced increase in inflammatory cells, type 2
cytokine production along with progranulin
Figure 33. Experimental summary and proposed mechanism of development of $T_{\rm H}2$ immune
response by macrophage-derived progranulin 71

#### 1. Introduction

#### 1.1. Asthma, a heterogeneous disease of the airway

Asthma is a common chronic disease of the airway, and traditionally, it is characterized by inflammatory, functional and structural changes leading to airway hyper-responsiveness and airflow limitation which is usually reversible.<sup>1</sup> Asthma affects more than 300 million individuals of all age, and its prevalence is continuously increasing worldwide.<sup>2</sup> The clinical features of asthma include, shortness of breath, wheezing and cough and it is diagnosed clinically based on history of variable respiratory symptoms together with variable expiratory airflow limitation from pulmonary function tests.<sup>3</sup>

Until early 2000s, the importance of nonspecific anti-inflammatory and bronchodilator medications – combination of inhaled corticosteroids (ICS) and  $\beta_2$ -adrenergic receptor agonists – was emphasized and the majority of patients using such medications as standard therapies were well controlled. However, in approximately 5-10% of the asthma population, the disease remained symptomatic and inadequately controlled despite the stepwise treatment according to the Global Initiative for Asthma (GINA) guidelines.<sup>4</sup> The proportion of uncontrolled asthma is small, but they carry a high risk of serious morbidity and mortality, and use the largest share of economic resources and health-care services,<sup>5</sup> therefore, additional therapeutic breakthrough was required for those who were poorly controlled.

Meanwhile, the body of evidence grew suggesting that responses of people with asthma to nonspecific anti-inflammatory drugs were dependent on the presence and type of airway inflammation.<sup>6,7</sup> It was then demonstrated that a specific antibody to the allergy-related factor immunoglobulin E (IgE) showed efficacy in reducing exacerbations in the targeted 'allergic' asthma population.<sup>8</sup> Thus, the term 'asthma' evolved from one describing a single disease entity to a heterogeneous disease group encompassing multiple phenotypes or endotypes, each defined by distinct clinical, functional and pathological patterns.<sup>1</sup>

Many researchers now believe that heterogeneity of asthma roots from the different types of airway inflammation each with its unique underlying pathobiology linked to its associated clinical phenotype.<sup>1</sup> However, inflammation has not been measured frequently in practice to diagnose asthma, and even when it was measured, it was seldom used for personalizing treatment for the heterogeneous groups of patients. The most commonly used phenotypic classification has been; 1) allergic to non-allergic forms based on history of rhinitis or eczema, onset of disease and skin prick tests or laboratory measurement of total IgE and specific IgEs to common aeroallergens<sup>9</sup> and 2) eosinophilic to non-eosinophilic forms based on cellular analysis of sputum or blood samples.<sup>10</sup> The data show that about 50-80% of patients with severe asthma have allergic asthma<sup>11</sup>, and based on the current knowledge that patients with persistent eosinophilic airway inflammation tend to have more severe disease and frequent

exacerbations<sup>12</sup>, the research on pathobiology of inflammation in these patients have been briskly carried out as the two phenotypes overlap immunologically into a broader category of T helper cell type 2 ( $T_H$ 2)-associated asthma.

Although little is understood about asthma patients with neutrophil dominant inflammation, this subset has been identified in both stable and severe asthma.<sup>13,14</sup> The nomenclature for this subset varies by different study groups, which include non- $T_H2$  asthma, neutrophilic asthma,  $T_H1$  and/or  $T_H17$  dominant asthma. In fact, IL-17A and IL-17F – proinflammatory cytokines that are released by  $T_H17$  cells and crucially involved in neutrophilic inflammation – were found upregulated in bronchial biopsy samples obtained from severe asthma patients.<sup>15</sup> *Moore et al* showed that sputum neutrophilia was greatest in individuals who had generally adult-onset and severely obstructed (and incompletely reversible) asthma and highest-intensity healthcare usage and systemic corticosteroid use.<sup>16</sup> However, there does not exist a representative biomarker that can assemble this subgroup of asthma and no consensus exists as to what level of neutrophilia should define the subtype.

### 1.2. Pathobiology of asthma

To overcome the unmet need in the treatment of uncontrolled asthma with heterogeneous inflammation, there have been remarkable advances in the discovery of molecular pathogenesis of asthma.

Asthma originates from complex interactions between genetic factors and environmental agents such as aeroallergens, respiratory viruses and airborne pollutants.<sup>17</sup> In particular, allergens can be taken up by dendritic cells in the airway lumen, which process antigenic molecules and present them to naïve T helper  $(T_H 0)$ cells. The cytokine milieu determines the type of antigen presentation-dependent differentiation of T lymphocytes. For example, IL-12 produced by dendritic cells promote  $T_{H1}$  polarization, whereas commitment towards the  $T_{H2}$  lineage is driven by IL-4, which is probably released from mast cells, T cells, eosinophils and basophils.<sup>18</sup> Moreover, the innate cytokine thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP) and IL-33 are secreted in large amounts by bronchial epithelial cells and mast cells of patients with asthma<sup>19</sup>, thus eliciting the development of  $T_H2$ -adaptive responses<sup>20</sup> and inducing dendritic cells to release the chemokines CC motif chemokine 17 (CCL17) and CCL2, which recruit T<sub>H</sub>2 cells upon binding to their receptor: CC chemokine receptor 4 (CCR4).<sup>21</sup> As a consequence, T<sub>H</sub>2 cells that express CCR4 synthesize cytokines, IL-3, IL-4, IL-5, IL-6, IL-9, IL-13 and granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF)<sup>22</sup>. These cytokines in turn, stimulate the maturation and recruitment of eosinophils and mast cells. IL-5 promotes eosinophil maturation and survival, which is synergized by eotaxin and CCL5<sup>23,24</sup>. The type 2 innate lymphoid cells (ILC2) are also involved when the  $T_{\rm H2}$  polarizing cytokines (TSLP and IL-33) are released by epithelial cells by viruses or allergens, which is another important source of type 2

cytokines that orchestrate allergic immune response<sup>25</sup>. IL-4 and IL-13 promote B celloperated synthesis of IgE antibodies<sup>26,27</sup>. In addition to  $T_H2$  cells, IL-9 releasing  $T_H9$ cells become activated, leading to the growth and recruitment of mast cells, which release both preformed and newly synthesized mediators<sup>28</sup>.

Other subsets of T lymphocytes contribute to asthma pathobiology, which include  $T_H 17$  cells. They produce IL-17A and IL-17F, which stimulate bronchial epithelial cells and subepithelial fibroblasts to secrete neutrophil chemoattractants such as chemokine CXC motif ligand 1 (CXCL1) and IL-8<sup>21</sup>.  $T_H 17$  cells were also suggested to contribute to the pathogenesis of allergic asthma, thus worsening its severity<sup>29</sup>. Tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ ) was also shown to exert pleiotropic effects on inflammatory and structural cells of the airway in asthma<sup>30,31</sup>. Furthermore, exacerbations can be caused by respiratory viruses, and in some cases it can be facilitated by deficient epithelial synthesis of antiviral cytokines such as interferon- $\beta$  (IFN- $\beta$ ) and IFN- $\gamma$  released by  $T_H 1$  cells<sup>32</sup>.

The development of both  $T_{H2}$  cell and  $T_{H17}$  cell of the T cell-mediated adaptive immunity is facilitated by an impairment of specific immunomodulatory cells, T regulatory (Treg) cells that produce IL-10 and transforming growth factor- $\beta$  (TGF- $\beta$ ). Defective functioning of Treg cells can occur in all forms of asthma<sup>33,34</sup>, and probably in severe subtypes<sup>35</sup>.

Finally, many mediators, cytokines and growth factors produced by several

different cells involved in chronic asthmatic inflammation may also affect the functions and proliferation rates of airway structural cells, including epithelial cells, fibroblasts, smooth muscle cells and endothelial vascular cells<sup>36</sup>.

Figure 1, adopted from the review article by *Pelaia et al*, well delineates the complex interactions between host and external factors and their subsequent molecular pathogenic cascade described in previous paragraphs<sup>36</sup>. All of the cytokines described can be potential targets of biological treatments, especially needed for patients who do not respond fully to high doses of ICSs. A better understanding of the pathogenic role of such cytokines can encourage the development and application of anti-cytokine treatment. Such therapies would help to achieve personalized treatments tailored for patients tailored for patients who express high levels of specific cytokines implicated in the pathobiology of different subtypes of severe asthma.



Source: Nat Rev Drug Discov 2012;11:958-72

#### Figure 1. Pathobiology of asthma

Immune processes in the asthmatic airway. The pathway begins with the development of  $T_{H2}$  cells and their production of the cytokines IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13. These cytokines stimulate allergic and eosinophilic inflammation as well as epithelial and smooth muscle changes that contribute to asthma pathobiology. Other contributing T lymphocyte are  $T_{H17}$  cells, which produce IL-17A and IL-17F, which induce neutrophil recruitment and expansion.

#### 1.3. New biologic agents for asthma

New medications have been developed based on molecular pathogenesis of asthma, in which a biologic agent that blocks a certain molecule in a targeted pathway gets selected and tested from animal to human studies. New biologic agents currently in market include, omalizumab targeting IgE and mepolizumab and reslizumab targeting IL-5 of the  $T_{\rm H}2$  immune pathway.  $^{37\text{-}39}$  Also, benralizumab, dupilumab, and lebrikizumab, monoclonal antibodies against IL-5 receptor, IL-4 receptor and IL-13, respectively, have undergone phase 3 clinical trials and are expected to be in market in the near future.40-42 Other candidate molecules associated with TH2 dominant inflammation of asthma, such as blockers of IL-33 and TSLP are currently under development or early phase clinical trials.<sup>43,44</sup> Such advances are highly meaningful in that we know that there is a breakthrough for severe refractory asthma, and that we have now opened a new era of precision medicine for the treatment of asthma. However, they do not yet complete the puzzle of heterogeneity of asthma, not only because the effectiveness of these new medications need to be further assessed with long term clinical experience, and more importantly, biomarker studies in patients with inflammatory profiles other than  $T_H$ 2-dominant subtype have not been satisfactory so far. It is partly due to the absence of a useful biomarker for these patterns of inflammation, which makes pre-identification of subjects who might respond to a certain biologics difficult. Brodalumab, a monoclonal antibody targeting IL-17

receptor had been tested in a phase 2 clinical trial but the results showed no treatment effect in subjects with asthma.<sup>45</sup>

Indeed, a wide range of cells and inflammatory molecules interact in a complex manner to lead to development of asthma in various severities and profiles of inflammation, which determine different clinical phenotypes of the disease<sup>36</sup>. In order to overcome the unmet need in the treatment of uncontrolled asthmatics, further studies are mandatory to identify the undiscovered pathogenic inflammatory pathway, especially in  $T_{\rm H}1$  and/or  $T_{\rm H}17$  high subtype of asthma.

#### 1.4. Progranulin

Progranulin, also referred to as granulin-epithelin precursor<sup>46</sup>, proepithelin<sup>47,48</sup>, acrogranin<sup>49</sup>, and PC cell-derived growth factor<sup>50</sup>, is a 88-kDa glycoprotein composed of seven and a half cysteine-rich tandem repeats,<sup>51</sup> and it was originally isolated as an autocrine growth factor from the culture medium of the highly tumorigenic mouse teratoma-derived cell line PC<sup>50,52</sup>. Progranulin is digested into 6-kDa granulin peptides by many proteinases, including matrix metalloproteinase (MMP) 9, 12, and 14, elastase, and proteinase 3.<sup>53-57</sup>

#### **1.4.1.** The functions of progranulin

Progranulin is a multifunctional protein expressed in a wide range of tissues and

cell types.<sup>58</sup> Progranulin is highly expressed in epithelial cells, macrophages, fibroblasts and immune cells, including T cells and dendritic cells.<sup>59-61</sup> Progranulin has multiple physiological functions and is involved in many types of disease processes, including autoimmune disorders, cancer, and neurodegenerative diseases. Progranulin, as a growth factor, promotes cell proliferation and is crucial to the development and generation of fast-growing epithelial, endothelial, and cancer cells.<sup>62</sup> Progranulin levels are elevated in many types of cancer, including breast cancer, ovarian cancer, and cholangiocarcinoma.<sup>63-65</sup> Macrophage-derived progranulin is a key regulatory factor in the processes of inflammation and would healing<sup>66,67</sup> and its expression has been known to increase in response to tissue injury and coordinates physiological events for epithelial tissue maintenance and repair.<sup>68</sup> The importance of progranulin has also been emerging with respect to the immune system. Recently, progranulin has been reported to promote CD4+ T cells to differentiate into Treg cells.<sup>69</sup> Progranulin has also been found to be highly expressed in a subpopulation of neutrophils that can promote antibody diversity in B cells.<sup>70</sup>

Interestingly, there are many distinctive and contrasting functions executed by progranulin and granulin. For instance, progranulin, as opposed to granulin, blocks the TNF- $\alpha$  induced respiratory burst in neutrophils<sup>54</sup>, whereas granulin B, but not progranulin, stimulates IL-8 expression in epithelial cells.<sup>54</sup> It is not clear, however, by which mechanism the single 6-kDa granulins mediate its biological function, as most

progranulin-binding membrane receptors need more than one granulin domain.<sup>71</sup>

#### 1.4.2. Association between progranulin and respiratory diseases, including asthma

Studies in murine models of acute lung injury have identified progranulin to be a potent anti-inflammatory molecule, whose anti-inflammatory action was mediated by inhibition of neutrophil degranulation.<sup>72,73</sup> Another recent study on human sputum samples of chronic obstructive lung disease (COPD) has identified a higher progranulin level as an indicator of less severe neutrophilic inflammation.<sup>74</sup> *Lee et al* reported that progranulin expression was induced in the cigarette smoke extract exposed mouse lungs and that cellular apoptosis was augmented in the absence of progranulin.<sup>75</sup>

Based on the results of previous studies, we had assumed that progranulin would also have a role in the pathogenesis of asthma, presumably in neutrophilic asthma in which inflammation is dominant through  $T_H1$  and/or  $T_H17$  pathway. We had formerly carried out a study with serum samples and clinical data of asthma patients and showed that serum progranulin levels were lower in asthma compared with healthy controls. Its levels were lower in patients with worse pulmonary function and showed a negative correlation with blood neutrophil counts, therefore, we had suggested that serum progranulin may be an indicator of severe asthma with airflow limitation, particularly in neutrophilic asthma.<sup>76</sup>

#### 1.5. Possible role of progranulin in allergic airway inflammation

The association was not strong between progranulin and neutrophil in asthma, and the exact position of progranulin in the pathomechanism of asthma is not clear. We could not rule out the possibility of progranulin effect on the balance of  $T_H 1/T_H 2$  immune response or on the differentiation of naïve T cells to Treg cells. Furthermore, the role of progranulin limited to allergic asthma had not been studied so far.

Hence, we further aimed to evaluate the specific function of progranulin in the asthmatic airway and its mechanism of action, in the setting of house dust mite (HDM) induced inflammation. The biology of progranulin in asthma has not been studied to date, and our study is the first to explore.

#### 2. Materials and methods

#### 2.1. Mice

Wild type (C57BL6) and Lyzm (expressing Cre-recombinase in myeloid cell lineage, B6 background) mice were purchased from Jackson laboratory (Bar harbor, ME, USA). GRN mice (lox-P inserted in GRN gene, B6 background) were kindly donated from Professor Min Seon Kim in Asan Medical Center. To generate the macrophage-derived progranulin deficient mice, we mated Lyzm with GRN mice. The deletion of progranulin was confirmed by PCR genotyping of each gene specific primer in tail tissue of their offspring. Mating and maintenance of mice were performed in the facility at specific pathogen-free room, and all animal experiments were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee of Asan Medical Center.

#### 2.2. Materials for stimulation of cell line or mice

To induce the immune responses in mice or the production of inflammatory cytokines from cell lines, we purchased and stimulated with HDM extract (*Dermatophagoides pteronyssinus* (Der p) from Korean National Arthropods of Medical Importance Resource Bank, Seoul, Korea) and recombinant mouse progranulin (R&D systems, Minneapolis, MN, USA). In order to establish the conventional alum model, we purchased ovalbumin (grade V) from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO, USA) and aluminum hydroxide (Imject Alum, Thermo Scientific, Rockford, IL, USA).

#### 2.3. Culture and stimulation of mouse alveolar macrophage, epithelial cell and NKT cell

Alveolar macrophage cell line (MH-s, ATCC), epithelial cell line (MLE12, ATCC) and NKT cell line (DN32.D3) were cultured in RPMI, DMEM/F12 (1:1) or DMEM (Welgene, Gyeongsan-si, Korea), respectively, with 10 % fetal bovine serum (Biowest, MO, USA) and 1x antibiotics (Welgene). All cells were seeded as 1.0 x 10<sup>6</sup>/ml concentration with 500 µl media in 24-well cell culture plate (Corning, NY, USA), and we stimulated each cell with HDM extract, progranulin or aluminum hydroxide, respectively, after overnight stabilization. We harvested culture supernatant at each time-point and evaluated cytokine production with sandwich ELISA system.

#### 2.4. Establishment of airway inflammation in animal model

The overall picture of establishment of airway inflammation in the animal models is delineated in figure 2. To evaluate the cytokine expression in the sensitization period of HDM extract exposure, we administered a single dose of 30  $\mu$ g HDM allergen to wild type mice intranasally, and evaluated immunological parameters at baseline, 1, 2, 4, 8, 16, 32, and 48 h.

The role of progranulin produced by HDM extract exposure in the sensitization period was studied in wild type mice with administrations of 1, 10 and 100 ng recombinant mouse progranulin, and the evaluations were done 16 h after administration.

To evaluate the effect of macrophage-derived progranulin in allergen induced airway

inflammation, we intranasally gave 30  $\mu$ g HDM extract to wild type and macrophagederived progranulin deficient mice. The evaluation was performed at 16 h after administration of HDM extract.

To induce the adaptive immune responses to HDM allergen, we administered 30 µg HDM extract to wild type and macrophage-derived progranulin deficient mice twice a week for 4 weeks. The mice were sacrificed 24 h after final allergen challenge, and then immunological evaluations were done. In order to evaluate the responses after replenishment of progranulin in the progranulin deficient mice, depending on the timing of replenishment, recombinant mouse progranulin was administered either on day 0 and 1 (early, sensitization period) or on day 21 and 21 (late, challenge period).

The role of progranulin on the development of adaptive immune response to HDM allergen was again evaluated in the conventional alum model. We injected chicken egg ovalbumin (OVA) with aluminum hydroxide (alum) into the peritoneal cavity at day 0 and 14. After sensitization and boosting, we administered OVA alone at day 21 to 23. Mice were sacrificed 24 h after the last protein challenge, and evaluations were done. To check the cytokine production in the sensitization period, a single injection of OVA/alum mixture was given to wild type mice, and sacrifice and evaluation were performed at serial time-points.



Figure 2. Protocol for the establishment of airway inflammation in animal models

#### 2.5. Processing of BAL fluid, serum isolation and peritoneal fluid

To obtain the BAL fluids after sacrifice, we washed mouse airway with 1 ml of cold, sterile phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) as our previous study.<sup>77</sup> Next, we separated immune cells from BAL fluids by centrifugation at 4 °C, 5000 rpm for 10 minutes, and counted total cell with trypan blue after RBC lysis (StemCell Technologies, VC, Canada). For differential cell count, we counted 300 inflammatory cells after Diff-Quick staining. BAL fluid was stored at -20 °C for evaluation of cytokine production after days.

To collect the whole blood, we performed heart-puncture with 1 ml syringe, settle the cells in blood with centrifugation as in the processing of BAL fluid. Then we collected and saved the supernatant portion for evaluation of total antibody level in serum.

To collect the periotoneal fluids, we inserted 3 ml of fresh, cold PBS into peritoneal cavity with 5 ml syringe. After insertion, we shaked mouse for 10 seconds, and extracted 2 ml of periotoneal fluid – PBS mixture with syringe. Then, we processed peritoneal fluids as mentioned for processing of BAL fluids.

#### 2.6. Single cell isolation from lung tissues and regional lymph nodes

To isolate the immune cells from lung tissues, we chopped lung tissues with razor-blade. Next, the tissues were incubated at 37°C with 0.05% trypsin (GIBCO, Grand Island, NY, USA) and 200 unit/ml (GIBCO) of collagenase for 10 minutes for digestion. After digestion, tissues were grinded with plunger of syringe and cell strainer (BD Falcon, Bedford, MA, USA), and incubated in 4°C with RBC lysis buffer (StemCell Technologies). For isolation of immune cells from regional lymph nodes (LNs), we grinded tissues and incubated with RBC lysis buffer as in the single cell preparation from lung tissues described above.

# 2.7. Evaluation of immune responses of the single cells obtained from lungs and regional lymph nodes

Isolated cells were seeded as  $1.0 \times 10^6$ /ml concentration with 500 µl of RPMI (Welgene) in 24-well plates and cultured under 37°C condition with or without CD3 and CD28 antibodies (1 µg/ml each, eBioscience, San Diego, CA, USA). We collected the supernatant 12 h after T cell re-stimulation, and evaluated cytokine production with ELISA system.

## 2.8. Measurement of cytokines in BAL fluid/culture supernatant and immunoglobulin in serum

To evaluate the level of each cytokine in BAL fluid or culture supernatant, we purchased mouse ELISA Duoset (R&D systems, Minneapolis, MN, USA) and estimated the production of IL-4, IL-6, IL-12p70, IL-13, IL-17, IL-33, eotaxin, IFN-γ and TSLP in each sample following the guideline of manufacturer. In the case of immunoglobulin evaluation in serum, we isolated serum from mouse whole blood sample with centrifugation at 4°C, 5000 rpm for 10 min, and measured the level of total antibodies of IgE, IgG1 and IgG2c using mouse ELISA Quantitation set (Bethyl laboratories, Montgomery, TX, USA).

#### 2.9. Evaluation of lung histology

Blood depleted lung tissues with cold, sterile-PBS were sectioned and stained with hematoxylin and eosin solution (H&E stain) after fixation in 4% para-formaldehyde solution. All sides were observed under light microscope.

#### 2.10. Statistical analysis

All of the data were presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM with GraphPad Prism software (GraphPad, La Jolla, CA). One-way or two-way ANOVA with post-hoc comparison was used to determine the statistical significance. For comparison between two specific groups, the Student t test was performed. The p values < 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

#### 3. Results

## 3.1. Airway inflammation and production of cytokines and progranulin was induced by HDM allergen exposure

First, to evaluate the effect of HDM allergen exposure to production of progranulin in airway, we measured the level of cytokine production, including progranulin, from BAL fluid at several time points after HDM exposure. (Fig 3A) The total number of inflammatory cells in BAL fluid peaked at 16 h and 32 h after HDM exposure. (Fig 3B) The production of type 2 cytokines, IL-4 and 13, were measured to be highest at 8 h (Fig 4A), while IL-6 and IL-12 started to peak at 4 h and 8h after HDM exposure. (Fig 3B) In particular, a significant rise in progranulin level was seen at 2 h with its peak at 4 h after HDM exposure. (Fig 4A, 4B) Also, the absolute amount of progranulin production was higher than other cytokines measured. (Fig 4A, 4B)



Figure 3. Airway inflammation was induced by intranasal administration of HDM allergen in wild type mice.

Animal model protocol for Der p stimulation in wild type mice (A; indicated in square box, blue arrows). The change in number of inflammatory cells in BAL fluid after Der p exposure (B). The experiment consisted of five mice. \*P<0.05; \*\*P<0.01 relative to the basal level



**Figure 4.** The production of progranulin in BAL fluid in HDM stimulated wild type mice was induced earlier than other pro-inflammatory cytokines, including type 2 cytokines. A single intranasal administration of Der p 30 μg in wild type mice was performed and the expression of progranulin and other pro-inflammatory cytokines were evaluated at serial time points. IL-4 and IL-13 expression profile in BAL fluid after intranasal administration of HDM allergen in relation to the progranulin (A). IL-6 and IL-12 expression profile compared with progranulin (B). Each set of experiment consisted of five mice. \*P<0.05; \*\*P<0.01 relative to its basal level.

# 3.2. Alveolar macrophage was the source of progranulin production at HDM allergen exposure

To investigate the source of progranulin which had increased after HDM allergen exposure, we stimulated the major resident cells of the airway, such as alveolar macrophage, NKT cell and epithelial cells, with HDM allergen. The production of progranulin was noted in the HDM allergen stimulated alveolar macrophage, with its level significantly higher at 16 h to 32 h compared with its amount at 1 h. Moreover, the amount of progranulin was far higher than those measured in HDM exposed epithelial cells and NKT cells. (Fig 5) A slight amount of progranulin was detected in HDM allergen exposed epithelial cells, however, its increment was not significant in relation with exposure time or HDM concentration. (Fig 5B) In NKT cell, the elevation of progranulin was not detected. (Fig 5C)


Figure 5. Progranulin was mainly produced by alveolar macrophages after HDM allergen exposure.

Comparison of the ability of progranulin production after HDM allergen stimulation in cell lines associated with innate immunity and airway structural cell line. Progranulin production after HDM allergen stimulation in alveolar macrophages (A), airway epithelial cells, (B) and NKT cell culture supernatant (C). All values are shown post subtraction with its media value measured at the corresponding time. \*P<0.05 relative to the value at 1 h

#### 3.3. Intranasal treatment of recombinant progranulin increased airway inflammation

We then questioned if progranulin itself had any effect on airway inflammation. Intranasal treatment of recombinant mouse progranulin was performed and we measured immunological parameters, such as inflammatory cells and cytokine production in BAL fluid. (Fig 6A) The number of total inflammatory cells in BAL fluid showed a significant increase at 16 h after treatment of 10 and 100 ng of recombinant mouse progranulin. (Fig 6B) In particular, there was a significant increase in the number of alveolar macrophages and neutrophils with treatment of 100 ng recombinant mouse progranulin. (Fig 6B) The effect of progranulin treatment was prominent on type 2 cytokines, IL-4, IL-13, IL-33 and TSLP, as the level of these cytokines in BAL fluid peaked with a significant increase after intranasal treatment of 100 ng progranulin. (Fig 7) On the other hand, we could not see any effect of progranulin on the production of IL-6 and IL-12p70. (Fig 8)





Animal model protocol for recombinant progranulin administration in wild type mice, (A, indicated in square box), and the number of inflammatory cells and its composition in BAL fluid. (B) Mice were given with each dose of recombinant mouse progranulin. For all experiments, each group consisted of five mice. \*P<0.05; \*\*P<0.01; \*\*\*P<0.001 relative to PBS group



Figure 7. Intranasal administration of recombinant mouse progranulin induced type 2 cytokines in wild type mice.

The level of cytokine production in BAL fluid after intranasal administration of each dose of recombinant mouse progranulin. (A: IL-4, B: IL-13, C: IL-33, D: TSLP) For all experiments, each group consisted of five mice. \*P<0.05; \*\*P<0.01 relative to PBS group.





The level of IL-6 and IL-12 production in BALF fluid after intranasal administration of each dose of recombinant mouse progranulin. (A: IL-6, B: IL-12p70) For all experiments, each group consisted of five mice. Cytokine levels were statistically compared relative to PBS group.

## 3.4. Progranulin induced production of type 2 cytokines from NKT and lung epithelial cells

To identify the source of type 2 cytokine production in response to intranasal treatment of recombinant progranulin, we checked cytokine production after stimulation of recombinant mouse progranulin in NKT cells and epithelial cells. In NKT cell, the results showed that IL-4 concentration peaked at 1, 2 and 4 h (Fig 9A) and IL-13 concentration peaked at 8 and 16 h. (Fig 9B) In epithelial cells treated with recombinant progranulin, both IL-33 and TSLP production were increased, IL-33 at 32 h after progranulin treatment (Fig 10A) while TSLP at 8 and 16 h. (Fig 10B) The level of IL-4, IL-33 and TSLP increased with progranulin treatment in a dose dependent manner, while IL-13 did not. (Fig 9, 10)





The level of cytokine production level in NKT cell culture supernatant after stimulation with each dose of recombinant mouse progranulin. (A: IL-4, B: IL-13) \*P<0.05; \*\*P<0.01; \*\*\*P<0.001 relative to media value at each time

A



Figure 10. IL-33 and TSLP were induced by stimulation of recombinant mouse progranulin in epithelial cells.

The level of cytokine production in epithelial cell culture supernatant after stimulation with each dose of recombinant mouse progranulin. (A: IL-33, B: TSLP) \*P<0.05 relative to media value at each time.

# 3.5. Effect of macrophage-derived progranulin on the development of innate immune response induced by HDM allergen stimulation

In the above experiments, we identified that the major source of progranulin by HDM allergen stimulation was alveolar macrophage, and progranulin induced type 2 cytokine production, such as IL-4, IL-13, IL-33 and TSLP from NKT or epithelial cells. Next, to evaluate the effect of macrophage-derived progranulin on the development of innate immune response to HDM allergen, we evaluated various immunological parameters in macrophagederived progranulin deficient mice 16 h after a single HDM allergen sensitization. (Fig 11A) The results revealed that the inflammatory cells in BAL fluid were significantly lower in the progranulin deficient mouse compared with wild type, and the inflammatory cell that showed such prominent difference was the macrophage. (Fig 11B) The type 2 cytokines, IL-4, IL-13, IL-33 and TSLP in the BAL fluid increased with allergen exposure in the wild type mice, however, the production of these cytokines were much lower in the progranulin deficient mice. (Fig 12) IL-6 production also increased with allergen exposure but the level did not differ between wild type and progranulin deficient mice. (Fig 13A) IL-12 production was minimal with HDM exposure hence the difference was insignificant between wild type and progranulin deficient mice. (Fig 13B) The cytokine production in the tissue of the lung was measured with cells treated with PMA/Ionomycin, and the level of IL-4 and IL-13 increased with HDM exposure in the wild type mice, while the levels were lower in the progranulin deficient mice. (Fig 14) IL-6, IL-12, IL-33 and TSLP levels did not show any significant changes in the cells

of wild type and progranulin deficient mice treated with PMA/Ionomycin. (data not shown)





Animal model protocol for single Der p stimulation in wild type mice and macrophage-derived progranulin deficient mice (A, indicated in square box, red arrow). The number of inflammatory cells and its composition in BAL fluid (B). For all experiments, each group consisted of five mice. \*\*\*P<0.001 relative to PBS group. WT, wild-type mice; PGRN-/-, macrophage-derived progranulin deficient mice.



**Figure 12. Type 2 cytokine expression in BAL fluid was down-regulated in the macrophage-derived progranulin deficient mice after single HDM allergen sensitization.** The expression of type 2 cytokines BAL fluid was measured 16 h after a single HDM allergen sensitization (sensitization period), in wild type mice and in macrophage-derived progranulin deficient mice. (A: IL-4, B: IL-13, C: IL-33 and D: TSLP) For all experiments, each group consisted of five mice. \*P<0.05; \*\*P<0.01 relative to PBS group, and compared between wild type and macrophage-derived progranulin deficient mice. PGRN+/+, wild-type mice; PGRN-/-, macrophage-derived progranulin deficient mice.



Figure 13. Macrophage-derived progranulin deficiency did not influence the levels of IL-6 and IL-12 after a single HDM allergen sensitization.

Changes of IL-6 and IL-12 production by HDM allergen stimulation in wild type mice and macrophage derived progranulin deficient mice. (A: IL-6 and B: IL-12p70) For all experiments, each group consisted of five mice. \*\*P<0.01 relative to PBS group, ns; no significant different between wild type and macrophage-derived progranulin deficient mice. PGRN+/+, wild-type mice; PGRN-/-, macrophage-derived progranulin deficient mice.



Figure 14. The expression of IL-4 and IL-13 were decreased in the lung tissue of macrophage-derived progranulin deficient mice after a single HDM allergen sensitization.

Changes of type 2 cytokines, IL-4 and IL-13, in wild type and macrophage-derived progranulin deficient mice after stimulating with PMA/Ionomycin (A: IL-4 and B: IL-13). The results were calculated by dividing with total amount of protein. For all experiments, each group was consisted of five mice. \*\*P<0.01 relative to PBS group, and compared between wild type and macrophage-derived progranulin deficient mice. PGRN+/+, wild-type mice; PGRN-/-, macrophage-derived progranulin deficient mice.

# 3.6. Effect of macrophage-derived progranulin on the development of adaptive immunity induced by HDM allergen stimulation

Next, to evaluate the effect of macrophage-derived progranulin on the development of adaptive immune response to HDM allergen, we evaluated the immunological parameters in macrophage-derived progranulin deficient mice after multiple administrations of HDM for two weeks. (Fig 15A) When evaluated 24 h after the final HDM allergen administration, there was a significant increase in neutrophils and eosinophils in the BAL fluid of wild type mice. However, the recruitment of these cells were significantly decreased in macrophage-derived progranulin deficient mice. (Fig 15B) In tissue analysis, the decrease in inflammation was prominent in the macrophage-derived progranulin deficient mice. (Fig 16d) The type 2 cytokines, IL-4, IL-13 and eotaxin were increased in the BAL fluid of wild type mice after allergen exposure, while these cytokine levels were decreased in the macrophage-derived progranulin deficient mice. (Fig 17) There was no difference in the level of IL-17 between the wild type and progranulin deficient mice, (Fig 18A) and IP-10 concentration was higher in the progranulin deficient mice than in the wild type mice. (Fig 18B) The serum IgE level also showed an increase after HDM exposure in the wild type mice, while the level was lower in the progranulin deficient mice. (Fig 19A) The serum IgG1 levels did not differ between the wild type and progranulin deficient mice (Fig 19B) and serum  $IgG2_C$  was increased in the progranulin deficient mice, similar to the results of BAL IP-10. (Fig 19C)

When we stimulated T cells from the lung and regional LNs with anti-CD3/CD28

antibodies, IL-4 was increased in the wild type mice, while it was decreased in the progranulin deficient mice. (Fig 20A, 20D) IL-17 level increased in both wild type and progranulin deficient mice after stimulation, but the levels did not differ between the wild type and the progranulin deficient mice. (Fig 20B, 20E) IFN- $\gamma$  was higher in the progranulin deficient mice than in the wild type mice. (Fig 20C, 20F)





Animal model protocol for multiple Der p stimuli in wild type mice and macrophage-derived progranulin deficient mice (A, indicated in square box). The number of inflammatory cells and its composition in BAL fluid (B). \*\*\* P<0.001 relative to PBS group, and compared between wild type and macrophage-derived progranulin deficient mice after Der p stimulation. WT, wild-type mice; PGRN-/-, macrophage-derived progranulin deficient mice.





Hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) staining, 100x magnification

a: wild type\_PBS; b: PGRN -/-\_PBS; c: wild type\_Der p; d: PGRN -/-\_Der p



Figure 17. Type 2 cytokine levels were down-regulated in macrophage-derived progranulin deficient mice after multiple administrations of HDM allergen.

The evaluation of the cytokine levels in BAL fluid was performed 24 h after last allergen challenge, sacrificed on day 23. (A: IL-4, B: IL-13 and C: eotaxin) For all experiments, each group consisted of five mice. \*P<0.05 relative to PBS group and compared between wild type and macrophage-derived progranulin deficient mice. PGRN+/+, wild-type mice; PGRN-/-, macrophage-derived progranulin deficient mice.





The evaluation of the cytokine levels in BAL fluid was performed 24 h after last allergen challenge, sacrificed on day 23. (A: IL-17 and B: IP-10) For all experiments, each group consisted of five mice. \*P<0.05 relative to PBS group and compared between wild type and macrophage-derived progranulin deficient mice. PGRN+/+, wild-type mice; PGRN-/-, macrophage-derived progranulin deficient mice.



Figure 19. The absence of macrophage-derived progranulin affects the induction of serum immunoglobulin after multiple administrations of HDM allergen.

The effect of macrophage-derived progranulin to induction of serum immunoglobulin was measured with ELISA. (A: IgE, B: IgG1 and C: IgG2c) For all experiments, each group consisted of five mice. \*P<0.05; \*\*P<0.01 relative to PBS group and compared between wild type and macrophage-derived progranulin deficient mice. PGRN+/+, wild-type mice; PGRN-/-, macrophage-derived progranulin deficient mice.



Figure 20. Induction of T<sub>H</sub>2 cell development with HDM allergen challenge was downregulated in macrophage-derived progranulin deficient mice.

Evaluation of each cytokine in lung and draining lymph node cells after T cell stimulation with anti-CD3/CD28 antibodies. (Upper, A-C: Lung IL-4, IL-17 and IFN- $\gamma$ ; lower, D-F: lymph node IL-4, IL-17 and IFN- $\gamma$ ) For all experiments, each group consisted of five mice. \*\*P<0.01 relative to PBS group and compared between wild type and macrophage-derived progranulin deficient mice. WT, wild-type mice; PGRN-/-, macrophage-derived progranulin deficient mice.

#### 3.7. Progranulin supplement in the sensitization period restored down-regulated Der p specific airway inflammation in macrophage-derived progranulin deficient mice

In the subsequent experiment, we investigated whether replenishment of progranulin could restore the development of airway inflammation and the relevant cytokine production in macrophage-derived progranulin deficient mice after HDM exposure. We administered recombinant progranulin at different time points, in the sensitization and challenge period. (Fig 21A) In the macrophage-derived progranulin deficient mice, the recruitment of inflammatory cells in BAL fluid was decreased compared to wild type mice, and the decline was prominent in eosinophils in particular, as seen from previous experiments. The intranasal replenishment of progranulin in the sensitization period of HDM allergen resulted in the restoration of the inflammatory cell infiltration, especially the eosinophils to a similar level that was seen in the wild type mice. However, we could not see any increase of inflammatory cell in the group that progranulin supplement was performed in the challenge period of HDM allergen. (Fig 21B) The histologic findings also showed that inflammation was less prominent in the macrophagederived progranulin deficient mice with Der p stimulation (Fig 22b), but it was restored to a similar extent when progranulin was supplemented in the sensitization period (Fig 22c) The levels of IL-4, IL-13 and eotaxin measured from the BAL fluid were decreased in the macrophage-derived progranulin deficient mice and they were restored with progranulin supplement in the sensitization period of Der p stimulation. (Fig 23) The timing of progranulin replenishment had no effect on the IL-17 production (Fig 24A), and the increased IP-10 level in the progranulin deficient mice was decreased with progranulin supplement in the sensitization period. (Fig 24B) Serum IgE level showed a similar pattern with the type 2 cytokines (Fig 25A), while serum IgG1 had no change in all conditions (Fig 25B) and serum IgG2c showed opposite results with that seen from serum IgE. (Fig 25C)



Figure 21. Reduced airway inflammatory cell recruitment in macrophage-derived progranulin deficient mice was restored by replenishment of progranulin during sensitization period.

Animal model protocol for recombinant progranulin replenishment model (A, indicated in square box). The number of inflammatory cells and its composition in BAL fluid (B). For all experiments, each group consisted of five mice. \*P<0.05; \*\*P<0.01; \*\*\*P<0.001 compared between wild type and macrophage-derived progranulin deficient mice, and between macrophage-derived progranulin deficient mice and those supplemented with recombinant mouse progranulin. WT, wild-type mice; PGRN-/-, macrophage-derived progranulin deficient mice.



Figure 22. Down-regulated Der p specific airway inflammation in macrophage-derived progranulin deficient mice was restored by replenishment of progranulin during sensitization period.

Hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) staining, 100x magnification

a: wild type\_Der p; b: PGRN -/-\_Der p; c: PGRN -/-\_Der p + progranulin replenishment in the sensitization period; d: PGRN -/-\_Der p + progranulin replenishment in the challenge period



Figure 23. Down-regulated expression of type 2 cytokines in macrophage-derived progranulin deficient mice was restored by replenishment of progranulin during sensitization period.

The evaluation of the cytokine levels in BAL fluid was performed 24 h after last allergen challenge, sacrificed on day 23. (A: IL-4, B: IL-13 and C: eotaxin) For all experiments, each group consisted of five mice. \*P<0.05; \*\*P<0.01 compared between groups. PGRN+/+, wild-type mice; PGRN-/-, macrophage-derived progranulin deficient mice; sen, progranulin replenishment in the sensitization period; chal, progranulin replenishment in the challenge period.



Figure 24. Progranulin replenishment in the sensitization period of Der p affects IL-17 and IP-10 levels in macrophage-derived progranulin deficient mice.

The evaluation of the cytokine levels in BAL fluid was performed 24 h after last allergen challenge, sacrificed on day 23. (A: IL-17 and B: IP-10) For all experiments, each group consisted of five mice. \*P<0.05 compared between groups. PGRN+/+, wild-type mice; PGRN-/-, macrophage-derived progranulin deficient mice; sen, progranulin replenishment in the sensitization period; chal, progranulin replenishment in the challenge period.



**Figure 25.** Progranulin replenishment in the sensitization period of Der p affects the induction of serum immunoglobulin in macrophage-derived progranulin deficient mice. The effect of macrophage-derived progranulin to induction of serum immunoglobulin was measured with ELISA. (A: IgE, B: IgG1 and C: IgG2c) For all experiments, each group consisted of five mice. \*P<0.05; \*\*P<0.01 compared between groups. PGRN+/+, wild-type mice; PGRN-/-, macrophage-derived progranulin deficient mice; sen, progranulin replenishment in the sensitization period; chal, progranulin replenishment in the challenge period.

### 3.8. Effect of the progranulin on the development of adaptive immune response in conventional alum model

With the above results, we found that macrophage-derived progranulin deficiency led to the down-regulation of T<sub>H</sub>2 immune response to allergen. To confirm these findings, we tested our hypothesis in another  $T_{H2}$  animal model, the conventional alum model. (Fig 26A) The recruitment of eosinophils in the BAL fluid was seen in the wild type mice, which was significantly decreased in the progranulin deficient mice. (Fig 26B) The cellular infiltrations of the lung tissue showed the same pattern as the infiltration was increased in the OVA/alum stimulated wild type mice (Fig 27c) and was decreased in the same model of progranulin deficient mice. (Fig 27d) Also, the type 2 cytokines in the BAL fluid, IL-4, IL-13 and eotaxin were increased in the asthma model of wild type mice while a significant decline in these levels were seen in the progranulin deficient mice. (Fig 28) There no change in IL-17 and IP-10 concentration was higher in the progranulin deficient mice. (Fig 29) Serum IgE was also decreased in the asthma model of progranulin deficient mice (Fig 30A), while serum IgG1 showed no difference (Fig 30B) and serum IgG2c higher in the progranulin deficient mice. (Fig 30C) The cells were separated from the LNs and were then stimulated with CD3/CD28 to evaluate the T cell response, and results showed that the IL-4 concentration was increased in the wild type mice and was decreased in the progranulin deficient mice. (Fig 31A) IL-17 level did not differ between the wild type and the progranulin deficient mice (Fig 31B), and IFN- $\gamma$  was increased in the progranulin deficient mice. (Fig 31C)





Animal model protocol for generation of conventional alum model (A, indicated in square box). The number of inflammatory cells and its composition in BAL fluid (B). For all experiments, each group consisted of five mice. \*\*\*P<0.001 compared between indicated groups. WT, wild-type mice; PGRN-/-, macrophage-derived progranulin deficient mice.



Figure 27. Ova specific airway inflammation was down-regulated in macrophage-driven progranulin deficient mice.

Hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) staining, 100x magnification

a: wild type\_PBS p; b: PGRN -/-\_PBS; c: wild type\_OVA/alum; d: PGRN -/-\_OVA/alum



Figure 28. Type 2 cytokine levels were down-regulated in macrophage-driven progranulin deficient mice after OVA/alum stimulation.

The expression of type 2 cytokines BAL fluid was measured on day 24 of OVA/alum stimulation, in wild type mice and in macrophage-derived progranulin deficient mice. (A: IL-4, B: IL-13 and C: eotaxin) For all experiments, each group consisted of five mice. \*P<0.05 relative to OVA group, and compared between wild type and macrophage-derived progranulin deficient mice. PGRN+/+, wild-type mice; PGRN-/-, macrophage-derived progranulin deficient mice.





The evaluation of the cytokine levels in BAL fluid was performed on day 24 of OVA/alum stimulation. (A: IL-17 and B: IP-10) For all experiments, each group consisted of five mice. \*P<0.05; \*\*P<0.01 relative to OVA group and compared between wild type and macrophage-derived progranulin deficient mice. PGRN+/+, wild-type mice; PGRN-/-, macrophage-derived progranulin deficient mice.



Figure 30. The absence of macrophage-derived progranulin affects the induction of serum immunoglobulin after OVA/alum stimulation.

The effect of macrophage-derived progranulin to induction of serum immunoglobulin was measured with ELISA. (A: IgE, B: IgG1 and C: IgG2c) For all experiments, each group consisted of five mice. \*P<0.05; \*\*P<0.01; \*\*\*P<0.001 relative to PBS group and compared between wild type and macrophage-derived progranulin deficient mice. PGRN+/+, wild-type mice; PGRN-/-, macrophage-derived progranulin deficient mice.



Figure 31. Induction of  $T_{H2}$  cell development with OVA/alum stimulation was down-regulated in macrophage-driven progranulin deficient mice.

Evaluation of each cytokine in draning lymph node cells after T cell stimulation with anti-CD3/CD28 antibodies. (A: IL-4, B: IL-17 and C: IFN-γ) For all experiments, each group consisted of five mice. \*P<0.05 relative to PBS group and compared between wild type and macrophage-derived progranulin deficient mice. WT, wild-type mice; PGRN-/-, macrophage-derived progranulin deficient mice.
#### 3.9. Effect of OVA/alum stimulation on the induction of progranulin in peritoneal cavity

To clarify whether progranulin is produced in response to OVA/alum into the peritoneum, we evaluated the immune responses in the peritoneal cavity at serial time points after a single injection of OVA/alum. The inflammatory cells in the peritoneal fluid significantly increased after 8 h of injection which peaked at 16-32 h. (Fig 32A) In the peritoneal washing, IL-4 and IL-13 started to increase significantly at 4 h after injection (Fig 32B), while IL-6 started at 2 h but to a very small extent and no change was seen in IL-12. (Fig 32C) However, progranulin showed a steep rise at 2 h after injection and persisted over 48 h. (Fig 32B, 32C) We stimulated peritoneal macrophage with alum adjuvant directly to identify the source of progranulin, and we observed a large amount of progranulin in a dose dependent manner with the alum concentration. (Fig 32D)





The change in number of inflammatory cells in peritoneal fluid. (A) The change in IL-4, IL-13 and progranulin in peritoneal fluid. (B) The change in IL-6, IL-12 and progranulin in peritoneal fluid. (C) Progranulin production in peritoneal macrophage by stimulation of alum. (D) For all experiments, each group consisted of five mice. \*P<0.05 relative to baseline value.

#### 4. Discussion

In this present study, we demonstrated that progranulin is a molecule produced from alveolar macrophage in response to allergen exposure which in turn induced type 2 cytokine production from NKT and epithelial cells. In the absence of macrophage-derived progranulin in the airway, both innate and adaptive immune response were not switched on appropriately after HDM allergen exposure and replenishment of progranulin in the macrophage-derived progranulin deficient mice during sensitization period of HDM restored both immune responses.

This is the first mechanistic study of progranulin in asthma, which had first started with the idea if it could be a breakthrough for T<sub>H</sub>2-low, T<sub>H</sub>1 and/or T<sub>H</sub>17 high subtype of asthma. Despite the efforts to develop new drugs that target T<sub>H</sub>1 and/or T<sub>H</sub>17 dominant asthma, for example, anti-TNF- $\alpha$  agents and anti-IL-17 monoclonal antibodies<sup>45</sup>, none have documented significant success to date.<sup>78</sup> Recent studies on progranulin have suggested that it is a key regulator of inflammation and it mediates its anti-inflammatory effect by blocking TNF- $\alpha$ binding to its receptors.<sup>69</sup> The role of progranulin in the airway was evaluated in a series of studies, and we could learn that progranulin was induced by noxious stimuli (eg. lipopolysaccharide, cigarette-smoke extract) in BAL fluid and progranulin showed protective effect on development of subsequent injury. *Ungurs et al* have suggested that progranulin is an antagonistic substrate for proteases that lead to neutrophil degranulation.<sup>74</sup> These studies brought us to perform a preliminary study with serum samples from asthma patients, in which we have suggested that progranulin may be an indicator of airflow obstruction and neutrophilia in asthma.<sup>76</sup>

Similar to the previous studies<sup>73,75</sup>, progranulin was induced by HDM allergen exposure in BAL fluid and it was preceded by other cytokines, IL-4, IL-13, IL-6 and IL-12. Recombinant mouse progranulin was administered intranasally to determine the order of progranulin and cytokine production, and as a result, we found a prominent increase in the level of  $T_{H2}$  cytokines, IL-4, IL-13, IL-33 and TSLP upon progranulin administration. Interestingly, there was no change in the level of IL-6 and IL-12 after administration of recombinant progranulin alone, and we could infer that progranulin itself may not directly affect T cell polarization to  $T_{H1}$  or  $T_{H17}$  cells, instead may induce polarization to  $T_{H2}$  cells.

Progranulin is expressed in a wide range of tissues and cell types, which include epithelial cells, macrophages, fibroblasts and immune cells including T cells and dendritic cells.<sup>71</sup> The major resident cells of the airway consist of alveolar macrophage and NKT cells as the immune cells and epithelial cells as the structural cells, which are known to be the gatekeeper of the immune surveillance in the airway.<sup>79</sup> Thus, the production of progranulin was evaluated in these cells in this present study. We excluded other cell lines such as fibroblasts which also exist in the airway, as we did not consider them as the frontline barrier that react to allergen exposure. We found that progranulin was mainly produced from alveolar macrophage when stimulated with HDM allergen, while a relatively smaller amount of progranulin was measured from epithelial cells and a scarce amount from NKT cells. This served as the background for

our subsequent experiments determining the role of macrophage-derived progranulin in the development of immune responses after HDM allergen stimulation.

Of note, the expression of progranulin after HDM allergen stimulation in animal model was highest at 4 h. However, in the experiment with cell lines – macrophage, epithelial cell, and NKT cell – determining which one is the major source of progranulin production, the expression of progranulin was highest at 32 h. The difference can be explained by the different experimental settings as the latter one had not been performed in an animal model, in which progranulin from various sources could have accrued to reach its peak earlier.

It is known that type 2 cytokines are mainly produced from NKT cells and airway epithelial cells when the airway immune system respond to allergen sensitization.<sup>80-82</sup> As the next step, we aimed to identify the source of the cytokines produced after allergen sensitization by giving the same treatment of recombinant mouse progranulin to each cell type, NKT cell and epithelial cell. We found that IL-4 and IL-13 were produced from NKT cell, which are known as important cytokines in the development of allergen specific  $T_{H2}$  cell in adaptive immune responses.<sup>83</sup> Also, IL-33 and TSLP were induced from epithelial cell, which are known to amplify local  $T_{H2}$  immune responses by stimulating ILC2.<sup>80,82</sup> Although we did not confirm the direct effect of progranulin on amplification of  $T_{H2}$  immune responses via stimulation of ILC2, we have shown that progranulin induced production of type 2 cytokines and that it could be associated with allergen specific  $T_{H2}$  immune response.

We now demonstrated the effect of macrophage-derived progranulin in the airway milieu

after allergen exposure. Initially, innate immune response was evaluated in wild type mice and macrophage-derived progranulin deficient mice after a single HDM allergen sensitization. We found a marked decrease in the number of inflammatory cells and production of type 2 cytokines (IL-4, IL-13, IL-33 and TSLP) in BAL fluid of progranulin deficient mice compared with wild type after sensitization. Particularly, there was a prominent decrease in the number of macrophages and there was also a decrease in the number of neutrophils in the allergen sensitized progranulin deficient mice but the change was statistically insignificant. This may be due to the setting of a single sensitization with which evaluated early response at 16 h. The absence of progranulin did not influence the production of IL-6 and IL-12, similar to the findings obtained from the BAL fluid after recombinant mouse progranulin administration in wild type mice. We could only find changes in the production of IL-4 and IL-13 from the cells separated from lung tissue after stimulation of PMA/Ionomycin and we consider this is because the process of cell separation did not include epithelial cells. Collectively, the absence of macrophage-derived progranulin mitigated the inflammatory response to allergen sensitization, and the production of IL-6 and IL-12 may solely be the output of HDM allergen sensitization, independent of the presence of progranulin.

Taken together, our in vitro cell experiment and in vivo experiment of a single Der p sensitization, we showed that IL-4 and IL-13 were induced from NKT cell and this process was driven by the macrophage-derived progranulin after HDM sensitization. According to previous studies, NKT cell is a key producer of IL-4 and IL-13 in the airway, and exists abundantly in about 20-40% of T cells from asthmatic lung.<sup>84,85</sup> Many studies underscored the importance of NKT cell in the development of Th2 airway inflammation using knock-out mice, however, the absence of NKT cell did not result in the elimination of airway inflammation perfectly.<sup>86</sup> Recently, a new cell population was discovered, innate lymphoid cells, ILCs. Among ILCs, ILC2 is known to be a potent producer of Th2 cytokines, such as IL-5 and IL-13, and were found in mucosa-related immune system.<sup>80,87</sup> Studies showed that allergen exposure of the airway induced IL-25 and IL-33, and stimulation of ILC2 by these cytokines resulted in enormous production of IL-5 and IL-33 in early sensitization period.<sup>88,89</sup> These evidence indicates that ILC2 is also important in fostering Th2 milieu by production of IL-5 and IL-13. And subsequent studies revealed that IL-4 was also induced by ILC2<sup>90,91</sup>. Although we showed that NKT cell is important in the development of Th2 milieu upon HDM stimulation and subsequent expression of progranulin by producing IL-4 and IL-13, we can assume that the cascade of these events may not have resulted owing solely to the NKT cells, but ILCs may also have taken part. This assumption certainly needs further studies to be proven.

The next part of our study was to demonstrate the effect of macrophage-driven progranulin on the adaptive immune response, after multiple Der p sensitizations. Again, the absence of progranulin resulted in a decreased inflammatory response to repeated allergen exposure, but this time prominent in the number of neutrophils and eosinophils. The results showed that the type 2 cytokines (IL-4, IL-13 and eotaxin) in BAL fluid, serum IgE levels were measured lower in the progranulin deficient mice, and T cells from the lung tissue and the regional LNs also demonstrated a lower level of IL-4. Overall, these results verify that the absence of progranulin leads to a mitigated  $T_{H2}$  response to allergen exposure. However, IL-17 measured from BAL fluid and from T cells of the lung and regional LNs and serum IgG1 did not show any change and IP-10 measured from BAL, serum IgG2c and IFN- $\gamma$  from T cells were increased in the absence of progranulin. This may be explained by the effect of IL-6 and IL-12 induced by HDM exposure and possibly as a consequence of  $T_{H2}$ -low environment induced by the absence of progranulin, thus inducing  $T_{H1}$ -dominant milieu.

To verify the role of progranulin more specifically in the adaptive immune response after allergen exposure, we supplemented progranulin in the progranulin deficient mice at different time points, sensitization and challenge period. The Der P specific inflammatory responses were restored with progranulin supplement in the sensitization period as the type 2 cytokine levels (IL-4, IL-13 and eotaxin) in BAL fluid and serum IgE levels were increased. However, we could not see any augmentation of  $T_{H2}$  immune response when progranulin was supplemented in the challenge period. Interestingly, eotaxin was also increased with progranulin supplement in the challenge period. We considered that this may have resulted from direct stimulation of epithelial and immune cells, rather than by the process of Der p specific adaptive immune response. Another point discovered was that progranulin supplement in the sensitization period lowered the level of IP-10 in BAL fluid and serum IgG2c that had been increased with progranulin deficiency. Overall, we have demonstrated the importance of macrophage-derived progranulin induced by HDM allergen exposure, specifically in the sensitization period, on the development of allergen specific  $T_{\rm H}2$  adaptive immune response.

There are several methods of generating an animal model of asthma, which include HDM allergen administration as shown in the above experiments and the conventional OVA/alum model that utilizes peritoneal injection of aluminum hydroxide and ovalbumin. To test our results in the conventional OVA/alum model, we induced an asthma model in the macrophage-derived progranulin deficient mice and in wild type mice. As a result, we found a mitigated ovalbumin-specific T<sub>H</sub>2 adaptive immune response in the progranulin deficient mice. Similar to previous findings, IL-17 and serum IgG1 levels were similar and other markers of T<sub>H</sub>1 immune response (IP-10 in BAL, serum IgG2c, IL-17/IFN- $\gamma$  from T cells of regional LNs) were increased in the progranulin deficient mice. Moreover, intraperitoneal progranulin was increased when exposed to OVA/alum and the source of progranulin was again found to be intraperitoneal macrophage. Collectively, our results were confirmed again in the OVA/alum model that macrophage-derived progranulin is important in the generation of T<sub>H</sub>2 immune response.

We obtained interesting results most of what was not expected from our assumptions based on studies of acute lung injury and COPD. On HDM allergen exposure, progranulin was produced mainly from macrophage and was more associated with T<sub>H</sub>2 inflammatory response, sequentially enhancing production of type 2 cytokines in BAL fluid and tissue inflammation on histopathology. In our asthma model generated by HDM and OVA/alum, progranulin did not show a protective effect on airway inflammation. Progranulin is composed of repeats of a cysteine-rich motif and can be digested into granulin peptides by MMP-9, 12, and 14, neutrophil elastase and proteinase  $3^{71}$  which stimulates IL-8 expression to enhance neutrophilic inflammation<sup>53</sup>. The digestion into granulin peptides depend on the environment that it exists, and therefore, progranulin can express either of the two contrasting effects; proinflammatory or anti-inflammatory.<sup>71</sup> In this experiment, we used a recombinant mouse progranulin in its full form, however, we are not yet aware of its final form when it starts its function in the airway on HDM allergen exposure. Moreover, the restricted condition of inducing asthmatic condition with Der p antigen in a single dose that led us to conclude the source of progranulin to be alveolar macrophage could have been another explanation. If we were to stimulate epithelial cells to secrete progranulin, probably in a larger amount and within a different cytokine milieu, progranulin could have demonstrated the opposite functions. In this regard, further studies are needed to simultaneously evaluate the expression of granulin and progranulin as well as the proteinases likely to exist in the setting of different levels of HDM allergen exposure.

In future studies, the cytokines evaluated for innate immune response should include TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1, IL-2, and reactive oxygen species. Progranulin knockout mice, other than macrophage-specific progranulin deficient mice should be adopted to investigate the development of asthma to better define its role in the pathogenesis of allergic asthma. We also need to extend our study to a neutrophilic asthma model to better understand the biology of

progranulin in asthma and to understand the results of this present study.

Collectively, progranulin was induced by HDM allergen exposure from alveolar macrophage, which sequentially induced type 2 cytokine production from NKT and epithelial cells. The presence of macrophage-derived progranulin in the airway was important for the generation of  $T_H2$  immune response on HDM allergen exposure, especially during the sensitization period. The clinical significance of our findings needs further laboratory research. (Fig 33)



Figure 33. Experimental summary and proposed mechanism of development of  $T_{H2}$  immune response by macrophage-derived progranulin.

Allergen stimulation with either Der p or OVA/alum induced progranulin secretion from macrophage. Macrophage-derived progranulin then induced production of IL-4 and IL-13 from NKT cells and IL-33 and TSLP from airway epithelial cells, possibly further enhanced through ILC2 stimulation. Subsequently, these cytokines are expected to elicit naïve T cells to polarize to  $T_{\rm H2}$  cells.

# 5. Conclusion

In conclusion, our current findings indicate that macrophage-derived progranulin has a role in the induction of  $T_H 2$  immune response after HDM allergen exposure, especially progranulin produced in the early sensitization period of HDM stimulation. The clinical significance of our findings needs further laboratory research.

## 6. References

- Anderson GP. Endotyping asthma: new insights into key pathogenic mechanisms in a complex, heterogeneous disease. Lancet 2008;372:1107-19.
- Beasley R, Semprini A, Mitchell EA. Risk factors for asthma: is prevention possible? Lancet 2015;386:1075-85.
- Global Initiative for Asthma (GINA). Global Strategy for Asthma Management and Prevention 2017 <u>http://ginasthma.org/2017-gina-report-global-strategy-for-asthma-</u> management-and-prevention/ Accessed October 18 2017. doi.
- Adcock IM, Barnes PJ. Molecular mechanisms of corticosteroid resistance. Chest 2008;134:394-401.
- Serra-Batlles J, Plaza V, Morejon E, Comella A, Brugues J. Costs of asthma according to the degree of severity. Eur Respir J 1998;12:1322-6.
- Green RH, Brightling CE, Woltmann G, Parker D, Wardlaw AJ, Pavord ID. Analysis of induced sputum in adults with asthma: identification of subgroup with isolated sputum neutrophilia and poor response to inhaled corticosteroids. Thorax 2002;57:875-9.
- Jayaram L, Pizzichini MM, Cook RJ, Boulet LP, Lemiere C, Pizzichini E, et al. Determining asthma treatment by monitoring sputum cell counts: effect on exacerbations. Eur Respir J 2006;27:483-94.
- 8. Busse W, Corren J, Lanier BQ, McAlary M, Fowler-Taylor A, Cioppa GD, et al.

Omalizumab, anti-IgE recombinant humanized monoclonal antibody, for the treatment of severe allergic asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2001;108:184-90.

- Wenzel SE. Asthma phenotypes: the evolution from clinical to molecular approaches. Nat Med 2012;18:716-25.
- Spanevello A, Confalonieri M, Sulotto F, Romano F, Balzano G, Migliori GB, et al. Induced sputum cellularity. Reference values and distribution in normal volunteers. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2000;162:1172-4.
- Haselkorn T, Borish L, Miller DP, Weiss ST, Wong DA. High prevalence of skin test positivity in severe or difficult-to-treat asthma. J Asthma 2006;43:745-52.
- Volbeda F, Broekema M, Lodewijk ME, Hylkema MN, Reddel HK, Timens W, et al. Clinical control of asthma associates with measures of airway inflammation. Thorax 2013;68:19-24.
- Simpson JL, Scott R, Boyle MJ, Gibson PG. Inflammatory subtypes in asthma: assessment and identification using induced sputum. Respirology 2006;11:54-61.
- Simpson JL, Powell H, Boyle MJ, Scott RJ, Gibson PG. Clarithromycin targets neutrophilic airway inflammation in refractory asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2008;177:148-55.
- Al-Ramli W, Prefontaine D, Chouiali F, Martin JG, Olivenstein R, Lemiere C, et al. T(H)17-associated cytokines (IL-17A and IL-17F) in severe asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2009;123:1185-7.

- Moore WC, Meyers DA, Wenzel SE, Teague WG, Li H, Li X, et al. Identification of asthma phenotypes using cluster analysis in the Severe Asthma Research Program. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2010;181:315-23.
- Bouzigon E, Corda E, Aschard H, Dizier MH, Boland A, Bousquet J, et al. Effect of 17q21 variants and smoking exposure in early-onset asthma. N Engl J Med 2008;359:1985-94.
- Sokol CL, Barton GM, Farr AG, Medzhitov R. A mechanism for the initiation of allergen-induced T helper type 2 responses. Nat Immunol 2008;9:310-8.
- 19. Ying S, O'Connor B, Ratoff J, Meng Q, Mallett K, Cousins D, et al. Thymic stromal lymphopoietin expression is increased in asthmatic airways and correlates with expression of Th2-attracting chemokines and disease severity. J Immunol 2005;174:8183-90.
- Nguyen KD, Vanichsarn C, Nadeau KC. TSLP directly impairs pulmonary Treg function: association with aberrant tolerogenic immunity in asthmatic airway. Allergy Asthma Clin Immunol 2010;6:4.
- Barnes PJ. The cytokine network in asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease.
   J Clin Invest 2008;118:3546-56.
- 22. Hamid Q, Tulic M. Immunobiology of asthma. Annu Rev Physiol 2009;71:489-507.
- 23. Zietkowski Z, Tomasiak MM, Skiepko R, Bodzenta-Lukaszyk A. RANTES in exhaled breath condensate of stable and unstable asthma patients. Respir Med 2008;102:1198-

202.

- 24. Collins PD, Marleau S, Griffiths-Johnson DA, Jose PJ, Williams TJ. Cooperation between interleukin-5 and the chemokine eotaxin to induce eosinophil accumulation in vivo. J Exp Med 1995;182:1169-74.
- 25. Halim TY, Steer CA, Matha L, Gold MJ, Martinez-Gonzalez I, McNagny KM, et al. Group 2 innate lymphoid cells are critical for the initiation of adaptive T helper 2 cellmediated allergic lung inflammation. Immunity 2014;40:425-35.
- 26. Finkelman FD, Katona IM, Urban JF, Jr., Holmes J, Ohara J, Tung AS, et al. IL-4 is required to generate and sustain in vivo IgE responses. J Immunol 1988;141:2335-41.
- Grunig G, Warnock M, Wakil AE, Venkayya R, Brombacher F, Rennick DM, et al. Requirement for IL-13 independently of IL-4 in experimental asthma. Science 1998;282:2261-3.
- 28. Veldhoen M, Uyttenhove C, van Snick J, Helmby H, Westendorf A, Buer J, et al. Transforming growth factor-beta 'reprograms' the differentiation of T helper 2 cells and promotes an interleukin 9-producing subset. Nat Immunol 2008;9:1341-6.
- Zhao Y, Yang J, Gao YD, Guo W. Th17 immunity in patients with allergic asthma. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 2010;151:297-307.
- Lukacs NW, Strieter RM, Chensue SW, Widmer M, Kunkel SL. TNF-alpha mediates recruitment of neutrophils and eosinophils during airway inflammation. J Immunol 1995;154:5411-7.

- 31. Amrani Y, Panettieri RA, Jr., Frossard N, Bronner C. Activation of the TNF alpha-p55 receptor induces myocyte proliferation and modulates agonist-evoked calcium transients in cultured human tracheal smooth muscle cells. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol 1996;15:55-63.
- 32. Contoli M, Message SD, Laza-Stanca V, Edwards MR, Wark PA, Bartlett NW, et al. Role of deficient type III interferon-lambda production in asthma exacerbations. Nat Med 2006;12:1023-6.
- Provoost S, Maes T, van Durme YM, Gevaert P, Bachert C, Schmidt-Weber CB, et al.
   Decreased FOXP3 protein expression in patients with asthma. Allergy 2009;64:1539-46.
- 34. Matsumoto K, Inoue H, Fukuyama S, Kan OK, Eguchi-Tsuda M, Matsumoto T, et al. Frequency of Foxp3+CD4CD25+ T cells is associated with the phenotypes of allergic asthma. Respirology 2009;14:187-94.
- 35. Abdulamir AS, Kadhim HS, Hafidh RR, Ali MA, Faik I, Abubakar F, et al. Severity of asthma: the role of CD25+, CD30+, NF-kappaB, and apoptotic markers. J Investig Allergol Clin Immunol 2009;19:218-24.
- Pelaia G, Vatrella A, Maselli R. The potential of biologics for the treatment of asthma.
   Nat Rev Drug Discov 2012;11:958-72.
- 37. Rodrigo GJ, Neffen H, Castro-Rodriguez JA. Efficacy and safety of subcutaneous omalizumab vs placebo as add-on therapy to corticosteroids for children and adults

with asthma: a systematic review. Chest 2011;139:28-35.

- 38. Pavord ID, Korn S, Howarth P, Bleecker ER, Buhl R, Keene ON, et al. Mepolizumab for severe eosinophilic asthma (DREAM): a multicentre, double-blind, placebocontrolled trial. Lancet 2012;380:651-9.
- Mukherjee M, Aleman Paramo F, Kjarsgaard M, Salter B, Nair G, LaVigne N, et al. Weight-adjusted Intravenous Reslizumab in Severe Asthma with Inadequate Response to Fixed-dose Subcutaneous Mepolizumab. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2017; doi: 10.1164/rccm.201707-1323OC.
- 40. Maselli DJ, Peters JI. In severe asthma, benralizumab reduced daily oral glucocorticoid dose and asthma exacerbations at 6 months. Ann Intern Med 2017;167:Jc43.
- 41. Wenzel S, Castro M, Corren J, Maspero J, Wang L, Zhang B, et al. Dupilumab efficacy and safety in adults with uncontrolled persistent asthma despite use of medium-tohigh-dose inhaled corticosteroids plus a long-acting beta2 agonist: a randomised double-blind placebo-controlled pivotal phase 2b dose-ranging trial. Lancet 2016;388:31-44.
- Hanania NA, Korenblat P, Chapman KR, Bateman ED, Kopecky P, Paggiaro P, et al.
  Efficacy and safety of lebrikizumab in patients with uncontrolled asthma (LAVOLTA I and LAVOLTA II): replicate, phase 3, randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trials. Lancet Respir Med 2016;4:781-96.

- Bel EH. Moving Upstream Anti-TSLP in Persistent Uncontrolled Asthma. N Engl J Med 2017;377:989-91.
- 44. Werder RB, Sci BB, Zhang V, Lynch JP, Snape N, Upham JW, et al. Chronic IL-33 expression predisposes to viral-induced exacerbations of asthma by increasing type-2 inflammation and dampening antiviral immunity. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2017; doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2017.07.051.
- 45. Busse WW, Holgate S, Kerwin E, Chon Y, Feng J, Lin J, et al. Randomized, doubleblind, placebo-controlled study of brodalumab, a human anti-IL-17 receptor monoclonal antibody, in moderate to severe asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2013;188:1294-302.
- Zanocco-Marani T, Bateman A, Romano G, Valentinis B, He ZH, Baserga R.
   Biological activities and signaling pathways of the granulin/epithelin precursor.
   Cancer Res 1999;59:5331-40.
- 47. Shoyab M, McDonald VL, Byles C, Todaro GJ, Plowman GD. Epithelins 1 and 2: isolation and characterization of two cysteine-rich growth-modulating proteins. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1990;87:7912-6.
- 48. Plowman GD, Green JM, Neubauer MG, Buckley SD, McDonald VL, Todaro GJ, et al. The epithelin precursor encodes two proteins with opposing activities on epithelial cell growth. J Biol Chem 1992;267:13073-8.
- 49. Anakwe OO, Gerton GL. Acrosome biogenesis begins during meiosis: evidence from

the synthesis and distribution of an acrosomal glycoprotein, acrogranin, during guinea pig spermatogenesis. Biol Reprod 1990;42:317-28.

- 50. Zhou J, Gao G, Crabb JW, Serrero G. Purification of an autocrine growth factor homologous with mouse epithelin precursor from a highly tumorigenic cell line. J Biol Chem 1993;268:10863-9.
- 51. Hrabal R, Chen Z, James S, Bennett HP, Ni F. The hairpin stack fold, a novel protein architecture for a new family of protein growth factors. Nat Struct Biol 1996;3:747-52.
- 52. Zhang H, Serrero G. Inhibition of tumorigenicity of the teratoma PC cell line by transfection with antisense cDNA for PC cell-derived growth factor (PCDGF, epithelin/granulin precursor). Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1998;95:14202-7.
- 53. Kessenbrock K, Frohlich L, Sixt M, Lammermann T, Pfister H, Bateman A, et al. Proteinase 3 and neutrophil elastase enhance inflammation in mice by inactivating antiinflammatory progranulin. J Clin Invest 2008;118:2438-47.
- 54. Zhu J, Nathan C, Jin W, Sim D, Ashcroft GS, Wahl SM, et al. Conversion of proepithelin to epithelins: roles of SLPI and elastase in host defense and wound repair. Cell 2002;111:867-78.
- 55. Xu D, Suenaga N, Edelmann MJ, Fridman R, Muschel RJ, Kessler BM. Novel MMP9 substrates in cancer cells revealed by a label-free quantitative proteomics approach.
  Mol Cell Proteomics 2008;7:2215-28.

- 56. Butler GS, Dean RA, Tam EM, Overall CM. Pharmacoproteomics of a metalloproteinase hydroxamate inhibitor in breast cancer cells: dynamics of membrane type 1 matrix metalloproteinase-mediated membrane protein shedding. Mol Cell Biol 2008;28:4896-914.
- 57. Suh HS, Choi N, Tarassishin L, Lee SC. Regulation of progranulin expression in human microglia and proteolysis of progranulin by matrix metalloproteinase-12 (MMP-12). PLoS One 2012;7:e35115.
- 58. Daniel R, He Z, Carmichael KP, Halper J, Bateman A. Cellular localization of gene expression for progranulin. J Histochem Cytochem 2000;48:999-1009.
- 59. Wang D, Bai X, Tian Q, Lai Y, Lin EA, Shi Y, et al. GEP constitutes a negative feedback loop with MyoD and acts as a novel mediator in controlling skeletal muscle differentiation. Cell Mol Life Sci 2012;69:1855-73.
- 60. Elkabets M, Gifford AM, Scheel C, Nilsson B, Reinhardt F, Bray MA, et al. Human tumors instigate granulin-expressing hematopoietic cells that promote malignancy by activating stromal fibroblasts in mice. J Clin Invest 2011;121:784-99.
- 61. Matsubara T, Mita A, Minami K, Hosooka T, Kitazawa S, Takahashi K, et al. PGRN is a key adipokine mediating high fat diet-induced insulin resistance and obesity through IL-6 in adipose tissue. Cell Metab 2012;15:38-50.
- 62. He Z, Bateman A. Progranulin gene expression regulates epithelial cell growth and promotes tumor growth in vivo. Cancer Res 1999;59:3222-9.

- 63. Serrero G, Ioffe OB. Expression of PC-cell-derived growth factor in benign and malignant human breast epithelium. Hum Pathol 2003;34:1148-54.
- 64. Frampton G, Invernizzi P, Bernuzzi F, Pae HY, Quinn M, Horvat D, et al. Interleukin-6-driven progranulin expression increases cholangiocarcinoma growth by an Aktdependent mechanism. Gut 2012;61:268-77.
- 65. Diaz-Cueto L, Arechavaleta-Velasco F, Diaz-Arizaga A, Dominguez-Lopez P, Robles-Flores M. PKC signaling is involved in the regulation of progranulin (acrogranin/PCcell-derived growth factor/granulin-epithelin precursor) protein expression in human ovarian cancer cell lines. Int J Gynecol Cancer 2012;22:945-50.
- 66. Yin F, Banerjee R, Thomas B, Zhou P, Qian L, Jia T, et al. Exaggerated inflammation, impaired host defense, and neuropathology in progranulin-deficient mice. J Exp Med 2010;207:117-28.
- He Z, Ong CH, Halper J, Bateman A. Progranulin is a mediator of the wound response. Nat Med 2003;9:225-9.
- He Z, Bateman A. Progranulin (granulin-epithelin precursor, PC-cell-derived growth factor, acrogranin) mediates tissue repair and tumorigenesis. J Mol Med (Berl) 2003;81:600-12.
- 69. Tang W, Lu Y, Tian QY, Zhang Y, Guo FJ, Liu GY, et al. The growth factor progranulin binds to TNF receptors and is therapeutic against inflammatory arthritis in mice. Science 2011;332:478-84.

- 70. Puga I, Cols M, Barra CM, He B, Cassis L, Gentile M, et al. B cell-helper neutrophils stimulate the diversification and production of immunoglobulin in the marginal zone of the spleen. Nat Immunol 2011;13:170-80.
- 71. Jian J, Konopka J, Liu C. Insights into the role of progranulin in immunity, infection, and inflammation. J Leukoc Biol 2013;93:199-208.
- 72. Guo Z, Li Q, Han Y, Liang Y, Xu Z, Ren T. Prevention of LPS-induced acute lung injury in mice by progranulin. Mediators Inflamm 2012;2012:540794.
- 73. Yu Y, Xu X, Liu L, Mao S, Feng T, Lu Y, et al. Progranulin deficiency leads to severe inflammation, lung injury and cell death in a mouse model of endotoxic shock. J Cell Mol Med 2016;20:506-17.
- 74. Ungurs MJ, Sinden NJ, Stockley RA. Progranulin is a substrate for neutrophil-elastase and proteinase-3 in the airway and its concentration correlates with mediators of airway inflammation in COPD. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol 2014;306:L807.
- 75. Lee KY, Park SY, Park S, Hong GH, Moon KA, Kim YS, et al. Progranulin protects lung epithelial cells from cigarette smoking-induced apoptosis. Respirology 2017;22:1140-8.
- 76. Park SY, Hong GH, Park S, Shin B, Yoon SY, Kwon HS, et al. Serum progranulin as an indicator of neutrophilic airway inflammation and asthma severity. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 2016;117:646-50.

- 77. Choi JP, Kim YS, Kim OY, Kim YM, Jeon SG, Roh TY, et al. TNF-alpha is a key mediator in the development of Th2 cell response to inhaled allergens induced by a viral PAMP double-stranded RNA. Allergy 2012;67:1138-48.
- 78. Berry A, Busse WW. Biomarkers in asthmatic patients: Has their time come to direct treatment? J Allergy Clin Immunol 2016;137:1317-24.
- Barnes PJ. Immunology of asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Nat Rev Immunol 2008;8:183-92.
- Morita H, Moro K, Koyasu S. Innate lymphoid cells in allergic and nonallergic inflammation. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2016;138:1253-64.
- Meyer EH, DeKruyff RH, Umetsu DT. T cells and NKT cells in the pathogenesis of asthma. Annu Rev Med 2008;59:281-92.
- Lambrecht BN, Hammad H. The immunology of asthma. Nat Immunol 2015;16:45-56.
- 83. Choi JP, Kim YM, Choi HI, Choi SJ, Park HT, Lee WH, et al. An important role of tumor necrosis factor receptor-2 on natural killer T cells on the development of dsRNA-enhanced Th2 cell response to inhaled allergens. Allergy 2014;69:186-98.
- 84. Akbari O, Faul JL, Hoyte EG, Berry GJ, Wahlstrom J, Kronenberg M, et al. CD4+ invariant T-cell-receptor+ natural killer T cells in bronchial asthma. N Engl J Med 2006;354:1117-29.
- 85. Umetsu DT, DeKruyff RH. A role for natural killer T cells in asthma. Nat Rev

Immunol 2006;6:953-8.

- 86. Akbari O, Stock P, Meyer E, Kronenberg M, Sidobre S, Nakayama T, et al. Essential role of NKT cells producing IL-4 and IL-13 in the development of allergen-induced airway hyperreactivity. Nat Med 2003;9:582-8.
- 87. Lim AI, Verrier T, Vosshenrich CA, Di Santo JP. Developmental options and functional plasticity of innate lymphoid cells. Curr Opin Immunol 2017;44:61-8.
- 88. Kim HY, Chang YJ, Subramanian S, Lee HH, Albacker LA, Matangkasombut P, et al. Innate lymphoid cells responding to IL-33 mediate airway hyperreactivity independently of adaptive immunity. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2012;129:216-27 e1-6.
- 89. Gold MJ, Antignano F, Halim TY, Hirota JA, Blanchet MR, Zaph C, et al. Group 2 innate lymphoid cells facilitate sensitization to local, but not systemic, TH2-inducing allergen exposures. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2014;133:1142-8.
- 90. Pelly VS, Kannan Y, Coomes SM, Entwistle LJ, Ruckerl D, Seddon B, et al. IL-4producing ILC2s are required for the differentiation of TH2 cells following Heligmosomoides polygyrus infection. Mucosal Immunol 2016;9:1407-17.
- 91. Noval Rivas M, Burton OT, Oettgen HC, Chatila T. IL-4 production by group 2 innate lymphoid cells promotes food allergy by blocking regulatory T-cell function. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2016;138:801-11 e9.

#### 7. Korean abstract

## 알레르기성 기도염증에서 대식세포 유래 progranulin 의 역할

기관지 천식은 호흡기에 발생하는 대표적인 기도 질환으로 만성 염증과 가역적 기도 폐쇄와 기도 과민성이 관찰된다. 기존의 천식 치료는 염증 반응을 비특이적으로 억제하는 흡입 스테로이드제가 근간이 되고 있다. 하지만, 이러한 비특이적인 염증의 억제로 증상이 잘 조절되지 않는 난치성 천식 환자군이 드러남에 따라 천식은 한 가지 병인으로 설명 가능한 한 가지 질환이 아닌, 다양한 병태 생리와 그에 상응하는 임상 표현형을 가지는 heterogeneous 한 질병이라는 인식이 널리 받아들여지고 있다. 이에 새로운 천식 치료 전략으로 병태 생리에 기반하여 특정 염증 반응을 억제하는 생물학적 치료가 주목받기 시작하였다.

저자는 progranulin 을 천식의 새로운 생물학적 치료의 바이오마커 후보로 제시하게 되었다. 그 근거로, 급성 폐손상 및 폐기종 동물 모델에서 progranulin 이 항염증 역할을 가진다는 것이 밝혀진 바 있고, 천식 환자를 대상으로 한 임상 연구로부터 progranulin 농도가 기도 폐쇄의 정도와 혈액 호중구 수치와 연관성을 보였다는 점을 들었다. 하지만, 알레르기 천식에서 progranulin 이 정확히 어떤 역할을 하는지, 어떤 기전을 통해 기능을 수행하는지 알려진 바가 없어, 본 연구에서는 천식에서 progranulin 의 면역학적 역할 및 기전을 알아보고자 하였다.

먼저, 알레르겐 노출 시 progranulin 에 어떠한 영향이 있는지 알아보기 위해, 집먼지 진드기 추출물을 마우스 모델에 비강 주입하였고 기관지세척액에서 측정한 progranulin 농도가 type 1, type 2 사이토카인에 선행하여 상승하는 것을 확인하였다. Progranulin 이

86

주로 생성되는 세포는 대식세포임을 확인하였고, recombinant mouse progranulin 을 마우스 모델에 비강 주입 시 대식세포, 호중구, type 2 사이토카인 증가를 보였다. Type 2 사이토카인은 NKT 세포 및 기도 상피세포로 분비됨이 확인되었다.

대식세포 유래 progranulin 의 역할을 알아보기 위해 대식세포 유래 progranulin 의 생성이 저하되는 유전자 조작 마우스를 이용하였다. 대식세포 유래 progranulin 생성 저하 마우스에서는 집먼지 진드기 자극이 선천 면역 및 후천 면역 반응을 유도하지 못했고, recombinant mouse progranulin 을 집먼지 진드기 자극의 초기 단계인 감작 시기에 보충하였을 때 두 가지 면역 반응이 모두 발생하게 됨을 확인하였다.

따라서, 대식세포 유래 progranulin은 집먼지 진드기 자극에 따르는 T<sub>H</sub>2 면역 반응의 생성에 중요한 역할을 하며, 추가적인 연구를 통해 구체적인 면역학적 기전을 밝혀야 할 것이다.

핵심어: progranulin, 대식세포, 천식